Town Council Minutes: October 2, 2025

OAK RIDGE TOWN COUNCIL MEETING
OCTOBER 2, 2025 - 7:00 P.M.

OAK RIDGE TOWN HALL
MINUTES
Members Present Staff Present
Jim Kinneman, Mayor Bill Bruce, Town Manager
Mike Stone, Mayor Pro Tem Sandra Smith, Asst. Town Mgr./Town Clerk
Ann Schneider Michael Thomas, Town Attorney
Michael Greeson Sam Anders, Finance Officer
Jim Harton
Staff Absent

Sean Taylor, Planning Director

1. CALL TO ORDER
Mayor Jim Kinneman called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.
A. Invocation
Rishi Kandala offered the invocation.

B. Pledge of Allegiance

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

Councilwoman Ann Schneider made a motion to approve the agenda with the addition of a
closed session to be conducted before the meeting’s adjournment. Councilman Jim Harton
seconded, and the motion passed unanimously (5-0).

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES

Mayor Pro Tem Mike Stone made a motion to approve the minutes of September 4, 2025,
regular meeting, and September 4, 2025 closed session. Councilman Michael Greeson
seconded, and the motion passed unanimously (5-0).

4. RESOLUTIONS, PROCLAMATIONS, ANNOUNCEMENTS
Arbor Day Proclamation



Town Council Minutes: October 2, 2025

Mayor Jim Kinneman read a proclamation, which is hereby incorporated by
reference and made a part of the minutes, proclaiming October 2, 2025, as Arbor
Day in the Town of Oak Ridge.

Councilwoman Ann Schneider announced the granting of the Governor’s Volunteer
Service Award to Boy Scouts of America Troop 600 in recognition of their
outstanding support of veterans and the military.

5. REPORT FROM GUILFORD COUNTY SHERIFF’'S OFFICE
No report
6. REPORT FROM OAK RIDGE FIRE DEPARTMENT

A representative of the Oak Ridge Fire Department reported on call statistics for
September 2025. He announced that the new Tanker 51 had been put to service at
the station across from Northwest Guilford High School and that October was Fire
Safety Month. He highlighted safety tips regarding the use and storage of lithium-ion
batteries.

7. PUBLIC COMMENTS / COMMUNITY ORGANIZATION REPORTS

A. Community Organization Reports
None
B. Comments from the Public

o Ty Lindsay, 8874 Cravenwood Drive, stated his commitment as a candidate
for Town Council to oppose tax increases and focus on improving financial
accountability by identifying areas needing improvement and providing
alternative solutions to the needs of a growing community without
burdening the taxpayer.

e Lindsey Clark, 6816 Koala Drive, also a candidate, stated her commitment to
support a revenue-neutral tax rate, with adjustments considered for
inflation.

e Debbie Shoenfeld, 8501 San Siro Farm Court, stated that tax and revenue
decisions cannot be made arbitrarily, as the Town must fulfill existing
commitments and long-term plans based on anticipated revenue. She noted
that budgets were planned years in advance, and electing new Council
members would not bring immediate changes to established financial plans.

e Adrian Eckenrod, 5679 Timber Trace Way, another candidate for Town
Council, directed listeners to his blog to learn more about his stance on
financial management. He outlined his qualifications for serving on the
Council, emphasizing his active involvement with the Town, its staff, and
committees over the past four years. He noted that PTI's (Piedmont Triad



Town Council Minutes: October 2, 2025

International Airport) rapid growth would generate over 10,000 new jobs
nearby and emphasized the need for smart growth and long-term planning
to manage the impact.

OLD BUSINESS
Consideration/Approval of addendum to Field Usage Policy with Oak Ridge Youth
Association (ORYA)

Mayor Kinneman noted that consideration had been previously given to the
addendum to the Field Usage Policy with ORYA and pressed to move forward with
an approval.

Mayor Jim Kinneman made a motion to approve the addendum to the Field Usage Policy with
ORYA, and Councilman Jim Harton seconded.

Kinneman noted that the Town had addressed ORYA'’s concerns regarding the
submission of roster information, assuring the organization that the Town would
work to accommodate its needs. He also confirmed that all sports were in
compliance with the Town’s insurance liability requirements.

Councilman Michael Greeson asked if it would be sufficient for ORYA to merely
submit the number of residents to the Town in lieu of a roster. Kinneman responded
that the Town would not take possession of the roster data and that he would be
confident with a statement from the accountant regarding the number of residents
registered in ORYA'’s programs. He underscored the Town'’s cooperative approach.

Mayor Pro Tem Mike Stone suggested a friendly amendment to the motion,
removing the roster requirement and directing the Town Manager to work with
ORYA to ensure the children’s identities in the rosters were protected. Kinneman
replied that he would agree to replace the roster requirement with a simple
headcount. Councilwoman Ann Schneider suggested allowing the Town Manager to
work with ORYA to define the roster’s parameters, noting that the roster data would
be useful if access were permitted.

Councilman Jim Harton emphasized the importance of maintaining historical data
on resident usage of the fields. He noted that understanding trends in usage by
residents versus non-residents would influence future financial commitments for
additional fields.

Councilwoman Ann Schneider supported the modification to accept a headcount in
lieu of a roster but commented that having roster data would be useful. She

expressed confidence in ORYA leadership working in concert with Town staff.

Greeson suggested amending the motion to include requesting a total headcount of
ORYA participants and a headcount of resident participants.

The motion passed unanimously (5-0).



10.

Town Council Minutes: October 2, 2025

TOWN MANAGER’S REPORT

A.

Consideration / Approval of:

e Reappointment of Jimm Barbery to the Trial Municipal ABC Board
(retroactive to July 2025)

o Appointment of Frank Campione to Mountains-to-Sea-Trail Committee

e Appointment of Stuart Mease as alternate to Water Advisory
Committee

Councilwoman Ann Schneider made a motion to approve the stated appointments and
reappointment, and Mayor Pro Tem Mike Stone seconded. The motion passed unanimously (5-

0).
B. Any other business
None
NEW BUSINESS
A. Consideration/Approval of Design/Engineering of Water Main for Town Core

Loop

Town Manager Bill Bruce introduced the proposed addendum to the Town'’s
engineering services agreement with The Wooten Company, which provides for the
survey and design of a water line around the Town’s Core Loop. The addendum is
hereby incorporated by reference and made a part of the minutes. He explained that
the Water Advisory Committee recommended the addendum’s approval and that
the Committee further proposed a change order of the existing contract with Park
Construction to build a portion of the Town Core Loop water main from NC 150 at
Linville Road to Oak Ridge Commons. He added that design and construction costs
to extend water to JPC Utilities, which services Oak Ridge Commons, was estimated
at $420,000, and that design and construction costs for the entire Town Core Loop
was estimated at $1,750,000. Bruce pointed out that what was currently under
consideration was simply the design and engineering of the Town Core Loop at a
cost of $109,900. He added that $196,000 remained from the $1.1 million grant
from S.L. 2020-63 after accounting for committed allocations. He noted that $1
million also remained in the General Fund restricted for the municipal water
system. He stated that design and permitting services could take up to six months to
complete. Bruce mentioned that the Water Advisory Committee believed that
adding the JPC Utility System to the Town’s water system would have an immediate
and significant effect on the system'’s financial stability.

Mayor Pro Tem Mike Stone made a motion to approve the proposal from The Wooten
Company to survey and design the Town Core Loop. Councilman Michael Greeson seconded the

motion.

Harton noted the meaningful progress being made in advancing the project.



Town Council Minutes: October 2, 2025

Schneider highlighted three key elements promoting the project: perseverance in
pursuing the vision, success in securing nearly $9 million in state and county grant
funding, and confidence in building a sustainable customer base. She commented
that despite earlier uncertainties and anticipated funding obstacles, the project was
presently gaining strong traction.

Kinneman emphasized that connecting to the JPC Monroe utilities would accelerate
the water system timeline by nearly five years, enabling the Town to reach a cash-
positive position sooner than originally projected. He noted that Oak Ridge
Elementary School and SECU had already committed to connect and identified the
potential for Oak Ridge Military Academy to join the system as well.

The motion passed unanimously (5-0).

B.

Discussion of security at Town Council meetings

Councilman Greeson, who requested the discussion, voiced his support for hiring a
security guard for Council meetings and recommended a security assessment of
Town Hall or staff training given the current unstable environment.

Mayor Pro Tem Stone commented that an annual cost of $3,000 to provide citizens
attending the Council meetings as well as staff protection against unpredictable
harm was a reasonable consideration. He encouraged citizens to exercise their
constitutional rights to bear arms for their personal protection.

Councilman Harton supported a short-term use of security personnel at Council
meetings and encouraged pursuing a security assessment of the building to uncover
practical measures that could be adopted to improve security.

Councilwoman Schneider inquired about the legality of concealed carry in a
government facility. Town Attorney Michael Thomas stated he could not confirm or
provide a definitive interpretation of the applicable statute regarding concealed
carry in government or public park facilities at that time. Schneider expressed
support for using security personnel at Council and other Town meetings as a
deterrent to aberrant or harmful behavior and outlined several practical measures
that could be implemented to improve security at Town Hall. She encouraged the
adoption of formal protocols to address security concerns and suggested that
Adrian Eckenrod, given his experience in the field, could assist in guiding that
process. She considered the measure to be a commonsense solution.

Mayor Kinneman advocated for a deliberate and comprehensive review of Town
Hall security needs and recommended utilizing free federal security assessment
programs and active-shooter training resources to ensure that any expenditures
made towards security management would be an effective and appropriate use of
taxpayer money. He extended the discussion to include security provisions for
boards and committees, noting that the current staffing shortages within the county
Sheriff's Office may necessitate hiring private security personnel. Citing N.C.G.S. 158-
404, Thomas confirmed that a private security officer, while classified as a private
citizen, may have the legal authority and training to detain individuals for breaches
of the peace until law enforcement assumed proper jurisdiction. Kinneman



Town Council Minutes: October 2, 2025

emphasized the importance of establishing clear policies to guide security
management over relying solely on hiring security personnel as a precautionary
measure.

Councilman Michael Greeson made a motion to employ a security firm to provide security
personnel at the next meeting on November 6, and for ensuing meetings until the end of the
2025-26 fiscal year on June 30, 2026. He added a provision to investigate obtaining a security
assessment for Town Hall and training for Town Hall staff- Mayor Pro Tem Mike Stone
seconded the motion.

Mayor Jim Kinneman proposed a friendly amendment to the motion directing the Town
Manager to (1) request a no-cost physical security assessment of Town Hall and Council
meeting procedures from the Protective Security Advisors at CISA (Cybersecurity and
Infrastructure Security Agency) in coordination with Guilford County Sheriff’s Office, and (2)
return within 60 days with assessment findings and a tiered security policy that defines
baseline measures and objectives for law-enforcement presence. Greeson accepted the friendly
amendment from Kinneman.

Schneider expressed concern that emphasis on the assessment process could
detract from the more immediate pursuit of hiring security personnel.

Kinneman stressed that completing an assessment would be essential for
consideration of the most effective measures to ensure a secure and protected
environment. He added that while the assessment’s findings could help inform
Council’s decisions, the final decision would rest with Council. While Schneider
supported gathering information through risk assessments, she acknowledged that
unpredictable outlier events could still occur. She emphasized the importance of
having operational procedures that are consistently followed to ensure security.

Stone sought to clarify that the motion being voted on included the employment of
security personnel beginning with the following month’s Council meeting and that a
risk assessment would be performed and returned with findings within 60 days.
Bruce cautioned that, due to ongoing federal programming issues, the timeline for
this service could be uncertain.

The motion passed unanimously (5-0).

Thomas cited Chapter 14-415.23 of the North Carolina General Statutes to address
the earlier question regarding the legality of concealed carry in a government
facility. He explained that the Town would need to adopt an ordinance to indicate
whether concealed weapons were permitted on government premises. He also
noted that a variation of the statute applied to concealed weapons on park property.

11. MONTHLY FINANCIAL UPDATE

Finance Officer Sam Anders presented the financial report for the month of
September 2025, which is hereby incorporated by reference and made a part of the
minutes. He reported that an appraisal of the Town'’s fixed assets would be
performed for insurance purposes the following month.



12.

Town Council Minutes: October 2, 2025

Councilwoman Ann Schneider made a motion to approve the finance report as presented by
the Finance Officer, and Councilman Michael Greeson seconded. The motion passed
unanimously (5-0).

COMMITTEE REPORTS

A. Water Advisory Committee
Spencer Sullivan reported that the committee was engaged in discussions and plans
for engineering of the Town Core Loop, marketing strategies to promote the
municipal water system, and consideration of the text amendment to reduce the
number of lots in a subdivision to require connection to a community well.

B. Historic Preservation Commission
Debbie Shoenfeld reported that the Historic Heritage Grant Committee would be
reviewing grant applications and conducting site visits. She noted that delivery of
the Historic Oak Ridge book was expected in a week, and sales would be conducted
at Town Hall for $25 per copy. She added that a marketing strategy to promote the

book was forthcoming.

Kinneman drew attention to the Commission’s efforts to facilitate the relocation of
the cottage located next to Sherwin-Williams.

C. Planning & Zoning Board

Town Clerk/Assistant Town Manager Sandra Smith noted that the Board approved
two subdivisions and denied a sidewalk waiver at its last meeting.

D. Board of Adjustment
No report

E. Mountains-to-Sea-Trail Committee
Stephanie Ferrell reported that an Eagle Scout project was underway to provide
informational signage along the Headwaters Trail and that several workdays had
been scheduled to complete the construction of the third bridge and maintain paths
at the trails by Carriage Cove and Pemberley Estates. She added that the Committee,
in collaboration with the Friends of the MST, had developed informational cards
about the trails at Oak Ridge.

F. Conservation Easement Committee

No report

G. Special Events Committee



Town Council Minutes: October 2, 2025

Barbara Engel announced the dedication of the Boardwalk at the Veterans Honor
Green during the Veterans Day observance. She stated that orders for brick pavers
at the site were still being accepted. She reported on the committee’s past and
planned events through the end of the year.

H. Tree Board

Roy Nydorf reported that the Board had selected both the location and species of
tree to plant in recognition of Arbor Day and to fulfill the requirements for Tree City
designation.

L. Parks & Recreation Advisory Board

Adrian Eckenrod reported that the Board did not meet for lack of new agenda items
but announced the final Music in the Park event on October 11, starting earlier at 5
p.m. to accommodate Daylight Savings Time.

J. Finance Committee

Kinneman noted that the Finance Committee did not meet. He added that the
Committee would be consulted regarding the financing of the second phase of
Heritage Farm Park.

13. PUBLIC COMMENTS

e (arol Kinneman, 8502 Hollow River Court, urged staff and Council to carefully
reconsider allowing concealed carry at Town Hall meetings as a safety measure.
Drawing from her past experience working in a high-risk healthcare facility
where security protocols were improved after threats and incidents, she
emphasized that there are many protective steps that can be taken before
permitting concealed firearms. She expressed feeling more concerned about the
risks posed by individuals carrying concealed weapons in the building than by
the possibility of an active shooter.

e Ty Lindsey, 8874 Cravenwood Drive, clearly stated his intention to run for a seat
on Council. He described key points of his campaign platform and underscored
his support for open arms to ensure the safety and well-being of both Council
members and the community.

e Adrian Eckenrod, 5679 Timber Trace Way, described his extensive background
in risk assessment and security management. He pledged to use transparent and
data-driven methods to produce clear, measurable outcomes if elected to
Council over making broad campaign promises.

e Lindsey Clark, 6816 Koala Drive, stated her support for adopting security
measures at Town Hall, and expressed appreciation to Council for their
consideration of protocols to respond effectively to unforeseen events.



14.

15.

16.

Town Council Minutes: October 2, 2025

COUNCIL COMMENTS

Schneider noted that Oak Ridge currently had the 11th lowest tax rate in the state,
with only about half of its revenue coming from property taxes. Because utility and
sales tax revenues were expected to decline, she stated that any discussion of
adjusting the property tax rate should be evaluated within the broader revenue
picture. She emphasized the importance of reviewing the Town's strategic direction,
inflation impacts, and budget needs holistically, with guidance from the Finance
Committee, staff, and citizens. She added that county-level revaluation decisions
significantly affected small towns, which have less flexibility to lower tax rates while
serving a growing population. She stated a commitment to approaching any tax
changes carefully and thoughtfully. Schneider promoted the Historic Oak Ridge book
which she edited, and offered a reminder of the upcoming elections, stating her own
qualifications for re-election.

Kinneman encouraged voting and explained that registering to vote can occur
during Early Voting but not Election Day.

Stone recounted his attendance at a Sheriff’s Roundtable in Greensboro, where he
learned that only 30 officers cover the Stokesdale-Summerfield-Oak Ridge district.
Given this limited security presence, he encouraged citizens to be legally armed to
provide immediate protection. He explained that the Town’s low tax rate reflected
its limited provision of ancillary services, such as police protection and loose-leaf
pick-up. He emphasized that Council controlled Town taxes and encouraged citizens
to “vote with their wallet.”

Greeson commented that only 34 days remained until Election Day.
Harton explained that his absence at the previous meeting was due to having
contracted COVID-19.

CLOSED SESSION

To discuss matters that are within the attorney-client.

Councilwoman Ann Schneider made a motion to enter into closed session at 8:34 p.m., and
Councilman Michael Greeson seconded. The motion passed unanimously (5-0).

Mayor Pro Tem Mike Stone made a motion to return to open session at 8:42 p.m., and
Councilwoman Ann Schneider seconded. The motion passed unanimously (5-0).

ADJOURNMENT

Mayor Pro Tem Mike Stone made a motion to adjourn the meeting at 8:43 p.m., and
Councilman Michael Greeson seconded. The motion passed unanimously (5-0).



Town Council Minutes: October 2, 2025

Respectfully Submitted:

Sandra B. Smith, MMC, NCCMC
Assistant Town Manager/Town Clerk

Jim Kinneman
Mayor

10



	OAK RIDGE TOWN COUNCIL MEETING
	A. Community Organization Reports


